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I 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
 

vs.
 

DAVID MARRERO,
 
MARIA VOLERO MARRERO,
 

a/k/a "Marilyn Marrero," 
KEITH ERNEST HUMES, 
and LAWRENCE EDWARD HUMES, 

a/k/a "Larry Humes," 

Defendants. 
_____________---'1 

INDICTMENT 

The Grand Jury charges that: 

General Allegations 

At all times relevant to this Indictment, i 

I 
1. The Medicare Program ("Medicare") was a federal health care pro~ram providing 

benefits to persons who were over the age of sixty-five or disabled. Medicare waf administered 

I 

by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS"), a federal agency un~er the United 

States Department of Health and Human Services. Individuals who received ~enefits under 
i 

Medicare were referred to as Medicare "beneficiaries." 

I 
2. Medicare was a "health care benefit program," as defined by Tipe 18, United 

States Code, Section 24(b). 



I 

3. Part B of the Medicare program covered a limited set of medications, including
I 

: 
medications that were administered via injection or infusion and that were furnis1ed as part of a 

physician service. Injection treatments involve the administration of medicationl by inserting a 

syringe directly into a vein, muscle or the fatty tissue beneath the skin. Infut·on treatments 

involve the administration of medication through a catheter into the bloodstream. , edical clinics 
, 

who met certain criteria could obtain Medicare provider numbers, which allowed hem to submit 

claims directly to Medicare seeking reimbursement for the cost of injectio and infusion 

treatments provided to eligible Medicare beneficiaries. 

i 
4. In order to receive payment from Medicare, a medical clinic ~as required to 

! 

submit a health insurance claim form to Medicare. The claims could be submitter in hard copy 

or electronically. A medical clinic could contract with a billing company to tra~smit claims to 

IMedicare on its behalf. 

I 
5. Medicare Part B was administered in Florida by First Coast Selrvice Options, 

which, pursuant to contract with the United States Department of Health and H4man Services,, 
, 

served as a contracted carrier to receive, adjudicate and pay Medicare Part B clai~s submitted to 

I 
it by Medicare beneficiaries, physicians, or medical clinics administering injectiop and infusion 

I 
treatments. Medicare Part B reimbursed medical clinics directly for the cost of injection and 

i 
! 

infusion treatments furnished to eligible Medicare beneficiaries, provided that thpse treatments 
I 
I , 

were ordered by a licensed physician who certified that the treatments were medi1ally necessary 

I 
for the beneficiary. 

6. Tendercare Medical Center, Inc. ("Tendercare") was a Florida co~oration, doing 
I 

business at 8353 SW 124lh Street, Suite 105, Miami, Florida 33156. Tendercare 
i 
iwas a medical 

I 
I 
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I 

clinic that purported to provided injection and infusion treatments to HIV/tlDS patients. 

Tendercare was a Medicare provider and submitted claims to Medicare. I 

7. Defendant DAVID MARRERO, a resident of Miami-Dade countL Florida, was 

I 
a managing employee and official of Tendercare. ! 

I 
I 
I 

8. Defendant MARIA VOLERO MARRERO, a/k/a Marilyn Mar~ero, a resident 

i 
of Miami-Dade County, Florida, owned and controlled Tendercare. 

9. Defendant KEITH ERNEST HUMES was a resident of Brdward County, 

Florida. 

10. Defendant LAWRENCE EDWARD HUMES, a/k/a Larry urnes, was a 

resident of Miami-Dade County, Florida. 

COUNT 1 
Health Care Fraud Conspiracy 

(18 U.S.c. § 1349) 
! 

1. Paragraphs 1 through 10 of the General Allegations section of this iIndictment are 

realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 
I 
I 

2. From in or around February 2004, and continuing through in or arol'nd June 2008, 

in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defi ndants, 

I 
IDAVID MARRERO, I 

MARIA VOLERO MARRERO, I
I 

a/k/a "Marilyn Marrero,"
 
KEITH ERNEST HUMES,
 

and
 
LAWRENCE EDWARD HUMES,
 

a/k/a "Larry Humes,"
 i 

I 
did knowingly and willfully combine, conspire, confederate and agree with each ~ther and with 

I 

! 

others, known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to violate Title 18, United States !Code, Section 
! 

1347, that is, to execute a scheme and artifice to defraud a health care benefit pro~ram affecting 

I 
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I 

i 
I 

commerce, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 24(b), that is, M~dicare, and to 
I 

obtain, by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, rnd promises, 

money and property owned by, and under the custody and control of, said healt~ care benefit 
! 

program, in connection with the delivery of and payment for health care bene~ts, items, and 

services. I 

Purpose of the Conspiracy I 

3. It was a purpose of the conspiracy for DAVID MARRERO, MAlA VOLERO 

MARRERO, KEITH ERNEST HUMES, and LAWRENCE EDWARD HU ES and their 
I 

co-conspirators to unlawfully enrich themselves by, among other things: (a) offeri~g and paying 
I 

kickbacks and bribes to Medicare beneficiaries for the purpose of using the Ibeneficiaries'
i 
i 
i 

Medicare numbers to file claims for injection and infusion treatments; (b) submitting false and 
I 

fraudulent claims to Medicare; (c) concealing the submission of false and fraud~lent claims to 

I 
Medicare, the receipt and transfer of the proceeds from the fraud, and the paymen~ of kickbacks; 

I 
! 

and (d) diverting proceeds of the fraud for the personal use and benefit of the ~efendants and , 
, 

their co-conspirators. i 

Manner and Means of the Consl!iraey I 

The manner and means by which the defendants and their co-conspirators sought to 
I 
i 

accomplish the object and purpose of the conspiracy included, among others, the f9llowing: 
I 

4. DAVID MARRERO and MARIA VOLERO MARRERO woUld obtain and 
I 

! 
maintain a valid Medicare provider number for Tendercare in order to submit false and 

fraudulent claims to Medicare for the cost of injection and infusion treatme~ts that were 

medically unnecessary and were not provided. 
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I 
5. DAVID MARRERO and MARIA VOLERO MARRERO wo~ld control the 

I 
day-to-day operations of Tendercare. i 

6. MARIA VOLERO MARRERO would offer and pay cash kickblcks and bribes 
I 

to Medicare beneficiaries who would provide Medicare numbers and other inforation for the 

purpose of submitting false and fraudulent claims to Medicare for injection and in~usion services 

purportedly rendered at Tendercare. 

7. MARIA VOLERO MARRERO would offer and pay cash kickb~cks and bribes 
I 

to KEITH ERNEST HUMES, LAWRENCE EDWARD HUMES and other io-consPirators 

to recruit Medicare beneficiaries who would provide their Medicare numbrrs and other 

information for the purpose of submitting false and fraudulent claims to MedicaIje for injection 
I 
I 

and infusion services purportedly rendered at Tendercare. 

8. KEITH ERNEST HUMES and LAWRENCE EDWARD HUMES would 
I 

recruit Medicare beneficiaries who would provide their Medicare numbers and ot~er information 

for the purpose of submitting false and fraudulent claims to Medicare for injectio~ and infusion 

services purportedly rendered at Tendercare. I 

9. DAVID MARRERO would alter the blood samples of Medicart beneficiaries 

and would instruct other co-conspirators to alter the blood samples of Medicare b~neficiaries, in 

order to make the beneficiaries' lab results appear to support the need for certai~ injection and 
I 

infusion services payable by Medicare. i 
I 

10. Another co-conspirator physician would conduct a cursory exa~ination of the 
I 
i 

Medicare beneficiaries and would sign the required documentation, including med1cal and billing 
, 

records, in order to make it appear that the injection and infusion treatments billed \bY Tendercare 
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I 

were medically necessary, when in fact they were not, and to make it appear that!the treatments 

were actually provided, when in fact they were not. I 

I 
11. Tendercare employee co-conspirators would purport to provid¢ injection or 

i 

infusion treatments to Tendercare patients, which they did not in fact provide. 

12. DAVID MARRERO, MARIA VOLERO MARRERO, a d other co­

conspirators would fabricate medical and billing records which falsely and frau ulently stated 
I 

that Tendercare patients had received specific dosages of medications by injectiot and infusion, 

I 
when, in fact, the patients had not received the treatments and medications ref1¢cted on those

I 

documents. 
I 

13. DAVID MARRERO and MARIA VOU:RO MARRERO I would cause 

Tendercare to submit false and fraudulent claims to Medicare for injectionsl and infusion 

I 
treatments, including claims for more medication than actually had been p*rchased from 

wholesalers. 
I 

I14. DAVID MARRERO and MARIA VOLERO MARRERO Iwould cause 
: 

Tendercare to submit false and fraudulent claims for approximately $5,836,794 tt Medicare for 

the cost of injection and infusion treatments. 

I 
15. The defendants would then transfer and disburse, and cause the transfer and 

I 

disbursement of, monies in Tendercare's corporate bank account to themselves an~ others. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349. 

COUNTS 2-5 
Health Care Fraud 
(l8U.S.C. § 1347) . 

1. Paragraphs 1 through 10 of the General Allegations section of this ~ndictment are 

Irealleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.	 I 

I 
i 
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I

I 
2. From in or around February 2004, and continuing through in or aro*nd December 

I 
2007, in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, t~e defendants, 

DAVID MARRERO
 
and
 

MARIA VOLERO MARRERO,
 
a/k/a "Marilyn Marrero,"
 

i 
in connection with the delivery of and payment for health care benefits, items, ant services, did 

knowingly and willfully execute, and attempt to execute, a scheme and artificd to defraud a 
I 

health care benefit program affecting commerce, as defined in Title 18, Unite1 States Code, 

Section 24(b), that is, Medicare, and to obtain, by means of materially false 1nd fraudulent 
I 

pretenses, representations, and promises, money and property owned by, and und~r the custody 
I 

I 
and control of Medicare, in connection with the delivery of and payment for health! care benefits, 

items, and services. 

Purpose of the Scheme and Artifice 

!
I 

I
I
I
I
i
i 
i 

3. It was the purpose of the scheme and artifice for DAVID MA;RRERO and 

i 
MARIA VOLERO MARRERO to unlawfully enrich themselves by, among othjer things: (a) 

I 

offering and paying kickbacks and bribes to Medicare beneficiaries for the purpo~e of using the 
I 

beneficiaries' Medicare numbers to file claims for injection and infusion t~eatments; (b) 

submitting false and fraudulent claims to Medicare; (c) concealing the sUbmissio~ of false and 

fraudulent claims to Medicare, the receipt and transfer of the proceeds from the ~raud, and the 
I 

payment of kickbacks; and (d) diverting proceeds ofthe fraud for their personal us~ and benefit. 

I 
!
I 
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The Scheme and Artifice 

4. Paragraphs 4 through 15 of Count 1 of this Indictment are Irealleged and 

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein as a description of t* scheme and 

I 
artifice. 

Acts or Attempted Acts in Execution of the Scheme and Artifice 

5. On or about the dates specified as to each count below, in Miami-D 

the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants, 

DAVID MARRERO
 
and
 

MARIA VOLERO MARRERO,
 
a/k/a "Marilyn Marrero,"
 

I 

de County, in 

I 

in connection with the delivery of and payment for health care benefits, items, ani services, did 

knowingly and willfully execute, and attempt to execute, the above-describe scheme and 

I 
artifice to defraud a health care benefit program affecting commerce, that is, M~dicare, and to 

obtain, by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, iand promises, 

I 
money and property owned by, and under the custody and control of said heal~h care benefit , 

program: 
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i I .
I 

2	 I L.P. ! 4/26/05 I 4/26/05 
I 
IGamma globulin injection; $10,500 iI 

i I !(11550) 

---:-------- ---4--f----~----- --- -------------- ------+ 
3 i A.F. 110/15/05 110/17/05 I Pegfilgastrim injection; $2,4001cJ2505) 
iii i I' 

, I I I	 I 
~-------r- --- -- -- - - -r---- ~----1--- - --- --- r- -~ ---- ---- ----- ----- "-- ---­

I ' , I I 

4 
-GlR;.~. :~15/07j 3/21/07 IAml[O~in~ injection; $1,~0~ iJ02~7) : 

5 D.A. 19/06/07 19/07/07 ICidofovir injection; $1,850; (Jd740) ! 
: : I	 I ~ 

I 1 I I	 I It -~---~~------ ~__~ ...l....- ~ ~-L ---------------- ---1-~ ~ 

I 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1347 and 2. 

COUNT 6 
I

Money Laundering Conspiracy I 
(18 U.S.C. § 1956(h» I 

I 
1. From in or around January 2005, and continuing through in or aro~nd December 

I 
2007, at Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, thf defendants, 

DAVID MARRERO I 
and I 

MARIA VOLERO MARRERO, I 

atWa "Marilyn Marrero," I 

did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the object of the conspiracy, a~d knowingly 
i 
I 

combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with persons known and unknown to t~e Grand Jury 

to commit a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957, that is: to knotinglY engage 

I 
in a monetary transaction affecting interstate commerce, involving criminally derivfd property of 

I 
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i 
a value greater than $10,000, and such property having been derived from spefified unlawful 

i 
activity.	 ! 

I 
2.	 It is further alleged that the specified unlawful activity is healt~ care fraud, III 

I 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h). 

COUNT 7 
Money Laundering 
(18 U.S.C. § 1957) 

1. On or about May 31, 2006, in Miami-Dade County, in the Soutijern District of , 

Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants, 

DAVID MARRERO
 
and
 

MARIA VOLERO MARRERO,
 
a/k/a "Marilyn Marrero,"
 

did knowingly engage and attempt to engage in a monetary transaction affe~ting interstate 

commerce, involving criminally derived property of a value greater than $1 o,oool such property 
! 

having been derived from specified unlawful activity, the monetary transacrion being the 

withdrawal of funds using check number 1037 in the amount of $13,000, dravm o~ Tendercare's 

Wachovia Bank account xxxxxx4219 in Miami-Dade County, Florida, made payJble to DAVID 

MARRERO. 
j 

2. It is further alleged that the specified unlawful activity is health I care fraud, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347. 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1957 and 2. 
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COUNTS 8-13 i 
Money Laundering I 

(18 U.S.c. § 1957) 
I 
I 
I 

1. On or about the dates set forth below, in Miami-Dade County, i1 the Southern 

I 
District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant, 

I 
MARIA VOLERO MARRERO, 

a/k/a "Marilyn Marrero," I 
I 

did knowingly engage and attempt to engage in a monetary transaction affeJting interstate 

I 
commerce, involving criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,POO, and such 

! 

property having been derived from specified unlawful activity: 
, 

Approximate 
Count Date of Description of Monetary Transaction 

Transaction 

The withdrawal of funds using check nU01ber 1162 in 
8 10/13/2005 the amount of $50,000, drawn on Tendercare's 

Wachovia Bank account xxxxxx4219 in Miami-Dade 
County, Florida, made payable to MARIA VOLERO 
MARRERO. I 

The withdrawal of funds using check number 1161 in 
9 10/13/2005 the amount of $50,000, drawn on Tendercare's 

Wachovia Bank account xxxxxx4219 in Miami-Dade 
County, Florida, made payable to Physiciar A. 
The withdrawal of funds using check nuntber 1332 in 

10 3/31/2006 the amount of $20,000, drawn on Tendercare's 
Wachovia Bank account xxxxxx4219 in Miami-Dade 
County, Florida, made payable to MARl~ VOLERO 
MARRERO. i 

I 

The withdrawal of funds using check nuniber 1328 in 
11 3/17/2006 the amount of $20,000, drawn on Tendercare' s 

I 

Wachovia Bank account xxxxxx4219 in ~iami-Dade 

County, Florida, made payable to Physicial1 A. 
The withdrawal of funds using check nUn}ber 1851 in 

12 9/07/2007 the amount of $25,000, drawn on tendercare's 
Wachovia Bank account xxxxxx4219 in .fv1iami-Dade 
County, Florida, made payable to MARIA,. VOLERO 
MARRERO. 

, 

! 
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13 9/0712007 
The withdrawal of funds using check nuniber 1852 in 
the amount of $25,000, drawn on endercare's 
Wachovia Bank account xxxxxx4219 in Miami-Dade 
County, Florida, made payable to Physiciar A. 

2. It is further alleged that the specified unlawful activity is health care fraud, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347. 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1957 and 2. 

I
FORFEITURE I 

(18 U.S.c. § 982) 

I. The allegations contaioed in Counts I through 13 of this !Odictme1 are realleged 

and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein for the purpo~e of alleging 

I 
forfeiture to the United States of America of certain property in which the defe1dants have an 

I, 
interest. 

2. Upon conviction of any violation of Title 18, United States CodeJ Section 1349 

or Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347, the defendants DAVID MARRJRO, MARIA 

VOLERO MARRERO, KEITH ERNEST HUMES and LAWRENCE EDWA~D HUMES 
I 

shall forfeit to the United States any property, real or personal, that constitutes loriS derived, 

i 
directly or indirectly, from gross proceeds traceable to the commission of the offen~e, pursuant to 

I 
Title 18 United States Code, Section 982(a)(7). I 

3. Upon conviction of any vi0 latioo 0 f Title !8, United States Code, S~cti on	 I956 or 

Title	 18, United States Code, Section 1957, defendants DAVID MARRERO I and MARIA 

I 
VOLERO MARRERO shall forfeit to the United States any property real or perspnal, involved 

I 
in such offense or any property traceable to such property, pursuant to Title 18,1 United States 

Code, Section 982(a)(1). I 

I 
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I
 
4. The property which is subject to forfeiture, includes but is not limited to, a 

I 
money judgment in the amount of $2,719,438, which represents the gross proceed1 of the fraud. 

! 

5. Pursuant to Title 21 United States Code, Section 853(p), as i*orporated by 

I 
reference by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b), if any of the forfeitab~e property, or 

I 
any portion thereof, as a result of any act or omission of the defendants: 

I 

(A) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 
I 

(B) has been transferred, or sold to, or deposited with a third pa1y; 

i 
(C) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court; I 

I 

(D) has been substantially diminished in value; or 

(E) has been commingled with other property which cannot ~e subdivided 

without difficulty; 
I 
I 

I 
It is the intent of the United States to seek the forfeiture of other Pfoperty of the 

I 
i 

defendants up to the value of the above-described forfeitable properties, including, Ibut not 
! 
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i 
limited to, any identifiable property in the name of DAVID MARRERO, MA~IA VOLERO 

MARRERO, KEITH ERNEST HUMES and LARRY EDWARD HUMES. I
I 
I 

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, 
i
I
i 

Section 982(a)(l) and (a)(7) and the

proccdures set forth at Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, as made applicabIe through 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(l).

A TRUE BILL 

FOREPERSON 

I

[ 

1'!ttttJ"k~~ 
KIRK OGROSKY ~ t--­
DEPUTY CHIEF 
CRIMINAL DIVISION, FRAUD SECTION 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

A~-{CL~ 
MARTHA TALLEY d 
SPECIAL TRIAL ATTORNEY 
MICHAEL PADULA 
TRIAL ATTORNEY 
CRIMINAL DIVISION, FRAUD SECTION 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

-14­


